IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC06-420 Lower Case No. 3D04-1770

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

VS.

EDGAR SYLVESTER WHITBY,

Respondent.

ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General

RICHARD L. POLIN Florida Bar No. 0230987 Bureau Chief Criminal Appeals

VALENTINA M. TEJERA Florida Bar No. 0536946 Assistant Attorney General Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 650 Miami, Florida 33131 Tel. (305) 377-5441 Fax. (305) 377-5655

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On April 8, 2004, the State charged the defendant, Edgar Sylvester Whitby, (a black male) with aggravated battery by knowingly or intentionally causing permanent disfigurement to William K. Lacy, for having thrown hot water at him and burning his chest. [R. 5-7]. During voir dire, prospective juror James Matthew Lynn stated that he works with researchers and students and that he is a very analytical person. [T. 93-5]. Mr. Lynn stated that he could find guilt based on a victim's testimony alone, that he would not hold it against a defendant who failed to testify and that he could render a fair judgment. [T. 66, 68, 103]. Both the State and the defense accepted Mr. Lynn as a juror. [T. 113].

Thereafter, the State exercised its second back strike on Mr. Lynn. [T. 123]. The defense requested a race neutral reason stating "although he is a white male . . . he is protected." [T. 123]. The court denied the defendant's request. [T. 123]. The defense stated that it would accept Mr. Lynn for now and asked the court whether it found that Mr. Lynn was not a member of a protected class. [T. 123]. The court answered: "Well, I am finding that there is no basis given that he was discriminated against on the basis that he is a white male. Okay." [T. 124].

_

¹ The State also moved to strike Ms. Ionie Appleton, an African American woman. [T. 116]. The defense requested a race neutral reason. [T. 116-7]. The State argued that she failed to raise her hand at times and that she seemed uninterested. [T. 117-8]. The court allowed the peremptory strike. [T. 119]. Thereafter, the State withdrew its objection and accepted Ms. Appleton. [T. 119].

During trial, the State elicited the victim's and the responding officer's testimony to establish that the defendant threw scalding water on the victim to retaliate against the victim's friendship with the defendant's girlfriend. [T. 162-259]. Immediately after the defendant threw water on the victim, the victim saw his skin bubble and blister. [T. 217-230, 258]. Despite his injuries, the victim did not seek medical treatment. [T. 217-230, 258].

At the close of the State's case, the defense moved for judgments of acquittal arguing that no reasonable juror could find that the defendant had committed a battery with the intent to cause permanent disfigurement. [T. 260-70]. A jury convicted the defendant of battery as a lesser included offense. [R. 31]. The court adjudged the defendant guilty of battery and, because the defendant qualified under the habitual felony offender statute as a result of two prior aggravated battery convictions, sentenced the defendant to 300 days in county prison less credit for time served. [R. 34-8; T. 322-7]. The defendant appealed his conviction and sentence to the Third District Court of Appeal.

On appeal, the defendant argued that reversal was required because the trial court failed to conduct a <u>Neil</u> inquiry on the State's peremptory challenge of Mr. Lynn. The State argued that the trial court acted within its discretion by not requiring the State to proffer a race/gender neutral reason because the defendant failed to lodge a proper objection. The State contended that the defendant's

objection was deficient because it simply identified the race and gender of Mr. Lynn and requested an inquiry without alleging that the strike was being used in a discriminatory manner. The State provided that such an objection should be insufficient to mandate an inquiry under Melbourne² or to require a new trial where an inquiry is not made.

The district court reversed the defendant's conviction and sentence based upon State v. Holiday, 682 So. 2d 1092 (Fla. 1996) "and the decisions of the [Third District Court of Appeal] and the various district courts, which have interpreted Melbourne and Holiday as mandating that a Neil³ inquiry be conducted when defense counsel simply objects to a peremptory challenge, identifies that the juror is a member of a distinct racial or ethnic group, and requests an inquiry, despite no allegation that the challenge was racially motivated." Whitby v. State, 2006 Fla. App. LEXIS 1846 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006), citing Pickett v. State, 30 Fla. L. Weekly D2398 (Fla. 3d DCA Oct. 12, 2005); Wicks v. Publix Super Markets, 908 So. 2d 1190, 1193 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005); Alsopp v. State, 855 So. 2d 695 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003); Murray v. Haley, 833 So. 2d 877, 879-80 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003). The district court interpreted this Court's case law on peremptory strikes and held that a party is not required to make an allegation of discrimination to trigger a Neil inquiry. See Whitby, 2006 Fla. App. LEXIS 1846 at *14-15.

_

² Melbourne v. State, 679 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1996).

³ State v. Neil, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984).

Despite reversing the defendant's conviction and sentence, the district court expressed its misgivings about the current Neil standard as simplified by Johans and Melbourne. See id. at *16-20. It provided that "application of this 'simplified standard' has proven not to be so simple after all and has led to misuse by trial attorneys; lengthy, needless evaluations as to the genuineness of the proffered reason for the challenge; unnecessary reversals due to failure to make an inquiry; and errors made in performing a pretextual analysis." Id. at *17-18. (footnote omitted). The Court explained that "[t]o require a reversal over an error regarding a juror's response in an otherwise fair and impartial trial without so much as an **allegation** that the peremptory challenge appeared to be racially motivated, [takes] good intentions too far, and [results] in needless reversals." Id. at*18 (emphasis supplied). Based upon the recognition that the current procedure for conducting a Neil inquiry was causing reversals for the wrong reasons, the district court certified four questions of great public importance:

SHOULD THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT RECONSIDER THE PEREMPTORY CHALLENGE ISSUE IN LIGHT OF THE SERIOUS PROBLEMS WITH THE CURRENT STANDARD?

IN LIGHT OF THE SERIOUS NATURE OF THE OBJECTION TO A CHALLENGE (THAT OPPOSING COUNSEL IS CLAIMING THAT THE PROPONENT OF THE CHALLENGE IS ATTEMPTING TO REMOVE A JUROR BASED UPON THE JUROR'S ETHNICITY, OR GENDER IN VIOLATION OF THE UNITED STATES and FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS) AND THE SERIOUSNESS OF THE CONSEQUENCES, SHOULD THE **OBJECTING** PARTY BE

REQUIRED TO AT LEAST ALLEGE THAT THE CHALLENGE WAS RACIALLY (OR OTHERWISE IMPERMISSIBLY MOTIVATED)?

SHOULD FLORIDA FOLLOW FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL LAW AND THE STANDARD EMPLOYED IN FEDERAL CASES WHICH REQUIRES THE DEMONSTRATION OF A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF DISCRIMINATION?

SHOULD WE CONTINUE TO REQUIRE REVERSALS DUE TO PROCEDURAL ERRORS REGARDING PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES WHEN THE RECORD LEAVES NO DOUBT THAT THE CHALENGES WERE NOT MOTIVATED BY RACIAL PREJUDICE AND WHERE THERE IS NO INDICATION THAT ANY SUCH PREJUDICE INFECTED THE JURY WHICH TRIED THE DEFENDANT?

Whitby, 2006 Fla. App. LEXIS 1846 at *19-20.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Melbourne requires an allegation of discrimination to trigger a Neil inquiry. Where a party fails to make an allegation of discrimination, there is an insufficient objection and a trial court is not required to, although it can and should, conduct a Neil inquiry. If the current standard under Melbourne does not require an allegation of discrimination, then this Court should require that such an allegation be made to preserve the claim in the record and to discourage the meritless use of Neil inquiries.

As provided by the district court below, during the nine years since Melbourne, trial and appellate courts have continued to have difficulty with Neil inquiries. Melbourne has bound district courts to reverse by elevating form over

substance; meaning that reversals are in no way tied to a finding that discrimination has taken place during jury selection. Due to the continued problems with Neil's standard following Melbourne, this Court should reconsider the procedure in light of the federal prima facie case requirement and the Supreme Court's recent opinion in Johnson v. California.⁴ Requiring a prima facie case of discrimination to trigger a Neil inquiry would serve to tie reversals to some indication of discrimination during jury selection and to an implication of defendant's state and federal constitutional rights to an impartial jury and equal protection. Requiring a prima facie case of discrimination would also serve to protect defendants' interests before federal courts on federal habeas review. This Court should reconsider the standard for triggering a Neil inquiry to balance the policy of eliminating discrimination from jury selection with the policy of eliminating unfounded reversible error based on form over substance.

ARGUMENT

A. Background.

The Florida Supreme Court's efforts to eliminate racial bias in the use of peremptory challenges preceded those at the federal level. See State v. Busby, 894 So. 2d 88, 98 (Fla. 2004), cert. denied, 125 S.Ct. 2976 (2005); see also Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), overruled in part by Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400

6

⁴ 125 S. Ct. 2410 (2005).

(1991); State v. Neil, 457 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1984), clarified, State v. Castillo, 486 So. 2d 565 (Fla. 1986). Although not constitutionally guaranteed, peremptory challenges are "one of the most important of the rights secured to the accused." See id. at 98. Unlike a cause challenge, "use of a peremptory challenge need not be supported by a reason, so long as the challenge is not used to discriminate against a protected class of venireperson." See Busby, 894 So. 2d at 99.

This Court has revisited and revised the Neil test, based on evidence of problems in Florida's trial courts in the application of that test. Once again, it is evident that such problems continue to persist, resulting in large numbers of reversals of trial court outcomes, especially in criminal cases. Once again, the need to revisit Florida's current standards has arisen. After this Court dispensed with the need for proof of a prima facie case of discrimination as a prerequisite for any inquiry, Florida became the only jurisdiction in this nation to have such a low threshold for an inquiry. As this Court's standards have been construed by lower courts, even the need for an express allegation of discrimination has been deemed unnecessary. Notwithstanding the lowering of that threshold, problems persist in unacceptably large numbers of cases. However, the critical point at this time is that the cases that our appellate courts are reversing based on noncompliance with Melbourne, 679 So. 2d 759 (Fla. 1996), are often cases which have no reasonable connection to a belief in the existence of a trial tainted by discrimination.

Melbourne's cure has resulted in reversals of convictions where discrimination clearly has not existed. For such reasons, it is imperative to review the manner in which lower courts have diluted this Court's pronouncements in Melbourne or, alternatively, to consider, once again, revising the standards to apply when determining whether peremptory challenges are being used in an impermissibly discriminatory manner.

Initially in Florida, to protect against discrimination during jury selection, a party had to show a "strong likelihood" that a peremptory challenge was being exercised in a discriminatory manner to trigger a Neil inquiry. See Neil, 457 So. 2d at 486-87. After many years, during which Florida trial courts had difficulty in applying the "strong likelihood" standard, this Court disposed of proving any burden and replaced it with a procedural objection to trigger a Neil inquiry. Melbourne, 679 So. 2d at 759; State v. Johans, 613 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 1993). Two guiding principles that have survived this Court's changes to the procedure for triggering a Neil inquiry are the presumption that all challenges are properly exercised and the accordance of great deference to trial courts to determine whether discrimination is taking place before them. These principles have existed since the recognition that peremptory challenges should not be exercised in a See Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 221 (1965), discriminatory manner. overruled by Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

In <u>Swain</u>, the Supreme Court of the United States relied on the presumption that peremptory challenges are properly used when it held that a prosecutor's peremptory challenge should not be subject to the "demands and traditional standards of the Equal Protection Clause." <u>Id</u>. at 221-22. The Court implied that despite the presumption that challenges are properly exercised, it would entertain an equal protection challenge in some circumstances where the defendant can prove that "in case after case" the prosecutor "is responsible for the removal of Negroes who have been selected as qualified jurors by the jury commissioners and who have survived challenges for cause, with the result that no Negroes ever serve on petit juries." <u>Id</u>. at 222-23. The Court did not discuss the effect of the Sixth Amendment right to a fair and impartial jury.

After Swain, courts in California, Massachusetts and New York rejected Swain's impossibly high standard for proving that peremptory strikes are fueled by discrimination. See People v. Thompson, 79 A.D.2d 87 (N.Y. 1981); Commonwealth v. Soares, 387 N.E.2d 499 (Mass.), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 881 (1979); People v. Wheeler, 583 P.2d 748 (Ca. 1978), overruled by Johnson v. California, 545 U.S. 162, 125 S. Ct. 2410 (2005). In Wheeler, the California Supreme Court reversed the convictions of two black men on the basis that the prosecution's peremptory strikes violated the right to an impartial jury representative of a cross-section of the community pursuant to the California

Constitution, Article I, section 16. Wheeler provided a three-part test based on the presumption that peremptory strikes are properly exercised. See id. at 762-3. The California Court defined the burden of proof as one "which a party may reasonably be expected to sustain in meritorious cases, but which he cannot abuse to the detriment of the peremptory challenge system." Id. at 763. The first step required the defendant to raise an objection that the opponent is using the peremptory challenges in a biased manner and make a prima facie case of such discrimination to the satisfaction of the court. Id. at 764.

The California Supreme Court held that upon showing a prima facie case of discrimination based on circumstances before the court, namely those reflecting the composition of the jury and the use of peremptory strikes, the trial court must determine whether a reasonable inference arises that the peremptory challenges are biased. See id. The state court recognized that trial judges "are in a good position to make such determination . . . on the basis of their knowledge of local conditions and of local prosecutors [and that t]hey are also well situated to bring to bear on this question their powers of observation, their understanding of trial techniques, and their broad judicial experience." Id. The court held that the burden shifts to the opposing party to prove a lack of discrimination by proffering neutral reasons, only if the trial court finds that a prima facie case of discrimination has been made. See id. at 764-65. It is then that the trial court must determine, as the third step,

whether the neutral reasons are bona fide or sham excuses. <u>See id</u>. A failure to rebut a prima facie case of discrimination results in per se prejudicial error requiring reversal. <u>See id</u>. at 766.

The Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court followed Wheeler's lead and held that discriminatory use of peremptory strikes results in a violation of the defendant's right to an impartial jury under the Massachusetts Constitution. The Massachusetts court set out a three-part test based upon the presumption that peremptory challenges are properly used. The first step required the rebuttal of the presumption by showing a pattern of exclusion of members of a discreet group and a likelihood that exclusion from the jury is based on their group membership. 387 N.E.2d at 516-17. The second step required the trial judge to determine whether "to draw the reasonable inference that peremptory challenges have been exercised so as to exclude individuals on account of their group affiliation." Id. at 517. If the trial judge determined that the presumption has been rebutted, the third step would shift the burden to the proponent of the strike to establish that the group members "disproportionately struck were not struck on account of their group affiliation." Id. The Massachusetts court accorded the trial court with great discretion to determine steps two and three. See id. at 516-17.

In <u>Thompson</u>, the Court of Appeals of New York agreed with the procedural tests established in <u>Wheeler</u> and <u>Soares</u>, but parted company "to the extent that

they suggest that a defendant may compel inquiry into the reasons for a prosecutor's use of peremptory challenges merely because the prosecutor has used a particular number of his peremptory challenges to exclude black potential jurors," 79 A.D.2d at 110-11. The New York court reasoned that "while exclusion of a significant number of black potential jurors will usually be part of the case of a defendant who seeks to have the trial court inquire into the prosecutor's use of peremptory challenges based upon alleged exclusion of blacks," such exclusion is insufficient by itself to warrant reversal of a trial court's determination not to make inquiry. Id.

Like the Wheeler, Soares and Thompson courts, this Court in Neil held, on the basis of Article I, section 16 of the Florida Constitution, which guarantees the right to an impartial jury, that peremptory challenges should not be used to discriminate against jurors because of their race. Neil, 457 So. 2d at 482. This Court set out a three-part test similar to that fashioned by the California, New York and Massachusetts courts and rejected the high burden imposed in Swain. The Neil test required the challenger of a strike to make a showing of discrimination to rebut the presumption that the strike was exercised in a proper manner to mandate inquiry by the trial court into the reasons for the strike. See id. at 486-87. The showing required a demonstration "on the record that the challenged persons are members of a distinct racial group and that there is a strong likelihood that they

have been challenged solely because of their race." Id. at 486. If the trial court determines that race is the only reason for the challenge, then the burden shifts to the proponent of the strike to show that the challenges were not exercised solely because of the prospective juror's race. See id. at 486-87. If the trial court decides that race is not the sole reason for the challenge, then no inquiry needed to take place. See id. at 486. Like Thompson, this Court declined to follow Wheeler and Soares to require inquiry simply because a prosecutor has used peremptory challenges to exclude members of one group. See 457 So. 2d at 486-87, n.10. This Court emphasized "that the trial court's decision as to whether or not an inquiry is needed is largely a matter of discretion." Id.

Two years after Neil, the Supreme Court of the United States in Batson, devised a similar three-part test, although the standard for a prima facie case of discrimination in Batson was lower than that set out in Neil. See Batson, 476 U.S. at 85-86; see generally, King v. Moore, 196 F.3d 1327, 1334 (11th Cir. 1999), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 1069, 123 S. Ct. 662 (2002) (noting that Neil exceeds the federal protection expounded in Batson); Reynolds v. State, 576 So. 2d 1300, 1303 (Fla. 1991) (same). In Batson, the Court reaffirmed its earlier ruling in Swain that the Equal Protection Clause forbids "the prosecutor to challenge potential jurors solely on account of their race or on the assumption that black jurors will be unable

impartially to consider the State's case against a black defendant." <u>Batson</u>, 476 U.S. at 89, 91.

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