IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-420

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-VS-

EDGAR SYLVESTER WHITBY,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ON CERTIFIED QUESTIONS OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1963

Shannon Patricia McKenna Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar Number 0385158

Counsel for Respondent

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

The eight different methods are as follows: Method A—examines the final composition of jury panel; Method B—examines the percentage of members of the targeted group on the jury as impaneled compared with the percentage in the venire; Method C—examines the percentage of members of the targeted group impaneled with the percentage in the jury district or county; Method D—tallies the number of challenges used against members of the targeted group; Method E—examines the percentage of challenges the *Batson* respondent exercised against members of the targeted group; Method F—examines whether the respondent removed all members of the targeted

See id.

Most of the factors examined under the *prima facie* burden (striking pattern, jury composition, venire composition, the nature of the dispute, and comparison of jurors' responses) are examined under Florida's third-step genuineness inquiry. Florida is simply considering this information in the context of a proffered neutral reason, and a genuineness inquiry. Under this method, the courts are not engaging in needless and imperfect speculation; rather they are getting to the heart of the actual reasons for the challenge, and they are making decisions on the merits.

Florida's simplified inquiry rule is the better standard for ferreting out discrimination. It allows for a full airing of the reasons based on the proponent's own explanation, not on the court's imperfect speculation. Additionally, "the nature of the peremptory challenge makes it uniquely suited to masking discriminatory motives." *Slappy*, 522 So. 2d 20 (citations omitted). Further, attorneys and judges may be engaging in unconscious racism. *See Batson*, 476 U.S. at 106 (Marshall, J. concurring). There are strong policies in favor of conducting the *Neil* inquiry, in the trial court, during voir dire. *See Hall v. Daee*, 602 So. 2d 512, 515-516 (Fla. 1992) ("[T]he appellate court is not a forum for conducting an after-the-fact Neil inquiry. Such endeavors are fraught with

group; Method G—examines the percentage of members of the targeted group in the venire that have been removed by peremptory challenges of the *Batson* respondent; and Method H—examines the percentage of challenges used against the targeted group compared to the percentage of the targeted group in the venire. *See* Melilli, 71 Notre

speculation and seldom reflect the true thought process that occurred at the time of the challenge.") (citations omitted). This full airing of the proponent's reasons facilitates appellate review. There are strong policies in favor of getting the proponent's actual reasons for the strike. *See Kibler v. State*, 546 So. 2d 710, 714 (Fla. 1989). "[When] no inquiry is conducted, [d]eference cannot be shown to a conclusion that was never made." *Hall*, 602 So. 2d at 516 (citation omitted).

Importantly, the simplified inquiry rule also places a high value on the equal protection rights of individual jurors. "Jurors are not fungible. Each juror has a constitutional right to serve free of discrimination." *Joiner v. State*, 618 So. 2d 174, 176 (Fla. 1993). "This is so because the striking of a single black juror for a racial reason violates the Equal Protection clause, even where other black jurors are seated, and even when there are valid reasons for the striking of some black jurors." *Slappy*, 522 So. 2d at 21.

Additionally, the simplified inquiry rule only imposes a minimal burden on the trial courts. *See Reynolds v. State*, 576 So. 2d at 1301-1302. "It will entail no more than a minute or two of time. . . . The slight inconvenience of this procedure clearly and unmistakably is justified as a means of preventing the injustice that would result if the

Dame L. Rev. at 470-479.

The State argues that the *prima facie* burden ensures a complete record, but it only ensures a record of the jurors' cognizable classes; it does not ensure any record of the actual reasons for the strike, the integral part of the *Neil* inquiry.

only minority venire member could be peremptorily excused without accountability." *Id.* As the *Valentine* Court stated, "it is far less costly in terms of time and financial and judicial resources to conduct a brief inquiry and take curative action during voir dire than to foredoom a conviction to reversal on appeal." *Id.* at 974.

The State asserts that Florida is the only jurisdiction that has abandoned the *prima* facie burden. Contrary to the State's assertion, recognizing the advantages of a simple inquiry rule, the courts of South Carolina, Missouri, and Connecticut, as well as, the Military Court of Appeal have all rejected the *prima facie* burden.¹⁸

Florida has a long history and tradition in foreshadowing and exceeding federal standards on the elimination of discrimination in jury selection. Florida has an ongoing commitment to "a vigorously impartial system of selecting jurors based on the Florida Constitution's explicit guarantee of an impartial trial. *See* Art. I, § 16, Fla. Const." *State v. Slappy*, 522 So. 2d at 21. "[N]o court is more sensitive or responsive to the needs of the diverse localities within a state, or the state as a whole, than that state's own high court. In any given state, the federal Constitution thus represents the floor for basic

See State v. Jones, 358 S.E.2d 701, 703 (S.C. 1987) (adopting this rule to ensure consistency and a complete record for appellate review); State v. Parker, 836 S.W.2d 930, 935, 939 (Mo. 1992) (adopting this rule to maximize the equal protection rights of the accused and the excluded venirepersons), overruling State v. Antwine, 743 S.W.2d 51, 64 (Mo. banc 1987) (which considered the proffered reason as part of the determination of a prima facie case); State v. Holloway, 553 A.2d 166 (Conn. 1989) (adopting this rule to provide an adequate record for appeal and to expedite the appellate process); United States v. Moore, 28 M.J. 366, 368 (CMA 1989) (adopting this rule as it

freedoms; the state constitution, the ceiling." *Traylor v. State*, 596 So. 2d 957, 963 (Fla. 2001). Florida's simplified inquiry rule best serves the rights of its citizens.

IV. SHOULD WE CONTINUE TO REQUIRE REVERSALS DUE TO PROCEDURAL ERRORS REGARDING PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES WHEN THE RECORD LEAVES NO DOUBT THAT THE CHALLENGES WERE NOT MOTIVATED BY RACIAL PREJUDICE AND WHERE THERE IS NO INDICATION THAT ANY SUCH PREJUDICE INFECTED THE JURY WHICH TRIED THE DEFENDANT?

This Court should answer this question in the affirmative. Initially, the proposed harmless error rule is essentially the *prima facie* burden; it just has a different name. The State even admits that this standard would only apply if the *prima facie* burden were not adopted. (PB. 41-42, 44). The adoption of this harmless error rule would undermine this Court's simplified inquiry rule, and the important policies it protects. Further, under both federal and Florida law, the harmless error rule is inapplicable in the context of the discriminatory use of peremptory challenges. *See Davis v. Secretary for the Dept. of Corrections*, 341 F.3d 1310, 1316-1317 (11th Cir. 2003); *State v. Johans*, 613 So. 2d 1319, 1322 (1993).

The Third District, the State, and the FPAA, all suggest that this rule is necessary since it is inappropriate to require a reversal in an otherwise fair and impartial trial. However, without an inquiry it is impossible to determine whether a jury was otherwise impartial. Without an inquiry, the only thing that is ensured is that the effect of

discrimination in jury selection will be hidden. As this Court observed in *Neil*, "[a] cross section of the fair and impartial is more desirable than a fair cross-section of the prejudiced and biased." *Neil*, 457 So. 2d at 487 (quotation and citation omitted). Additionally, the likelihood that discriminatory sentiments will be made by the jurors during deliberation decreases when the jury is composed of both genders and is multiracial, multi-ethnic and multi-religious. *See Powell v. Allstate Insurance Co.*, 634 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994). A fair and impartial cross-section also "safeguard[s] a [defendant] against the arbitrary exercise of power by prosecutor or judge." *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 86 (citation omitted).

The State argues that future discrimination will be deterred by the *prima facie* burden, not by the simplified inquiry rule. (PB. 45). In fact, the exact opposite is true. Under the simplified inquiry rule, reversals are linked to the merits of the discriminatory issue. It produces actual answers, and moves away from the needless and imperfect speculation of the *prima facie* burden. This Court's simplified inquiry rule ensures that hidden discriminatory motives are flushed out. It also uncovers milder, perhaps unconscious discrimination.

In support of this harmless error rule, the FPAA cites to *Moran v. Clark*, 443 F.3d 646, 653 (8th Cir. 2005) and *Paschal v. Flagstar Bank*, *FSB*, 295 F.3d 565 (6th Cir. 2002) as examples of how it should be applied. (AB. 15-16). In *Moran*, the Eighth Circuit affirmed the trial court's *Batson* ruling even though the trial court departed from

the typical *Batson* script by failing to rigidly follow *Batson's* three-part test. In *Paschal*, the Sixth Circuit affirmed the trial court's *Batson* ruling even though the trial court improperly combined *Batson's* steps and placed the burden on the proponent of the strike to prove it was not racially motivated.

Neither one of these cases applies to the *prima facie* burden. Additionally, Florida already has similar rules in place. Florida courts have consistently held that no magic words or incantations are required, so long as the trial court makes the requisite genuineness inquiries. *See, e.g., Pringle v. State*, 792 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001). Florida has developed rules which ensure the integrity of *Neil* reversals. Under *Floyd*, it is the objecting party's burden to contest the factual existence and pretextual nature of the proffered reasons. ¹⁹ Under *Joiner*, the objecting party is required to renew its objection before the jury is sworn. *Id.* at 176. This rule provides the court with a last clear chance to take corrective measures and to avoid the severe step of reversal. *See Milstein v. Mutual Security Life Ins. Co.*, 705 So. 2d 639, 640 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).

The State and the FPAA argue that under their harmless error rule any error in the simplified inquiry rule process would be harmless unless the *Neil* objector affirmatively

_

The State's purported concern that defendants may not satisfy federal habeas requirements under the simplified inquiry rule is unfounded. Under *Floyd's* stringent preservation requirements, a defendant's federal habeas claim should be more than adequately

proved that discrimination took place. (PB. 42, 45, 46, 48); (AB. 15). This proposed rule surpasses the requirements of the *prima facie* burden. It requires the party raising a *Neil* objection to persuade the trial court that his/her objection is meritorious at the first step of the process. Yet, under the *prima facie* burden, the party raising the *Neil* objection must only show that the record provides no basis for the striking of the juror, other than a discriminatory basis. *See Valentine*, 616 So. 2d at 974; *Reynolds*, 576 So. 2d at 1302. The party raising a *Neil* objection does not need to affirmatively prove discrimination in the first step, the persuasiveness of a challenge is not relevant until *Melbourne's* third step. *See Johnson*, 125 S.Ct. at 2418.

Additionally, the harmless error rule will cause significant work at both the trial and appellate levels. In the trial court, the voir dire process will be delayed while the objecting party makes proffers of discrimination. The appellate court will be saddled with reviewing every record to determine if there was a *prima facie* case. The adoption of this proposed rule will completely negate the time-saving benefits of this Court's simplified inquiry rule.

The State advocates for the adoption of its harmless error approach by discussing the jury selection process in *Pickett*. The State complains that any error in *Pickett* was harmless since several Hispanics were already seated on the panel when the defense objected to the strikes of two female Hispanic jurors. This application of the harmless error rule completely ignores the equal protection rights of the individual jurors. "A

single invidiously discriminatory governmental act' is not 'immunized by the absence of such discrimination in the making of other comparable decisions.'" *Slappy*, 522 So. 2d at 21, quoting *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 95 (citations omitted).

The Third District, the State, and the FPAA all suggest that this harmless error rule would preclude reversal in this case, as there was no indication that discrimination took place against Juror Lynn. (PB. 48-49); (AB15-16). The FPAA argues:

He offered no factual basis to indicate a discriminatory motivation for the strike, and could not argue that the prosecutor was <u>systematically</u> excluding white males from the jury. In the absence of either, there is no reason to believe that the prosecutor was acting with the intent to discriminate and no reason to believe that the presumption of nondiscriminatory use of peremptories had been rebutted.

(AB. 15) (emphasis added). The FPAA's legal analysis is faulty. The systematic exclusion standard was the precise standard utilized in *Swain* and rejected by this Court in *Neil*. *See Hall*, 602 So. 2d at 515.

The Third District, State, and the FPAA, are also incorrect that there was no *prima facie* evidence of discrimination against Juror Lynn. A review of the record reveals several inferences of discrimination. The State used all six of its peremptory challenges against male jurors, and while males comprised 56% of the venire, they only comprised 33.33% of the jury panel. (R. 11-12). Further, the record does not reveal any reason why the State struck Juror Lynn except for discrimination. Juror Lynn was an analytical person. (T. 93-95). Juror Lynn also gave pro-state equivocal responses

regarding whether he would hold it against a defendant who failed to testify. (T. 103). These are typical attributes of a state-friendly juror.

Moreover, this case involved classic stereotypical reasons for gender bias. Parties often eliminate jurors who will identify with the other party and/or against the complainant and witnesses. This case involved a domestic situation between the defendant, a male; his girlfriend; and the complainant, who the defendant referred to as his girlfriend's little boyfriend. (T. 159, 166, 206, 210, 212-214). It is a stereotype that males will identify with other males, especially in domestic situations. This case also involved the defendant directing several anti-gay slurs at the complainant, a gay male. It is a classic stereotype that men are homophobic and, therefore, they would align with the defendant rather than the complainant. *See, e.g., Tedder v. Georgia*, 463 S.E.2d 697 (Ga. 1995).

The State and the FPAA also suggest that there was no reason for the State to strike an African-American female from the jury. However, the defendant was African-American, and the State may have wanted to strike other African-Americans so they would not identify with him. Further, the prosecutor's actions with regard to this strike of a second African-American from the jury panel suggested a level of unconscious discrimination.²⁰ Despite contrary assertions, the record manifests specific facts readily

The prosecutor proffered a reason that was contradicted by the record. When the court rejected this reason, the prosecutor argued that the reason was acceptable. Upon

suggesting a discriminatory purpose for the strikes of this second African-American and for Juror Lynn.²¹

"Again, the danger of improper, race-based uses of peremptory challenges is ever present and trial judges must be vigilant gatekeepers of fair and impartial justice." *Dorsey v. State*, 868 So. 2d at 1211 (Bell, J. dissenting). The simplified inquiry rule, pronounced by *Johans*, and clarified by *Melbourne* and *Holiday*, strikes the correct balance between the goal of eliminating discrimination and the full and free use of peremptory challenges. This Court should not adopt the harmless error rule.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Edgar Sylvester Whitby respectfully requests that this Court answer the first, second, and third certified questions in the negative; answer the fourth certified question in the affirmative; and, approve the Third District's decision to the extent that it reversed Mr. Whitby's conviction and sentence.